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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT – Year Ending 31 May 2017 
 

Introduction 

I have the pleasure of presenting the Annual Report for Dairy Farms NZ Limited (DFNZ) for 
the year ended 31 May 2017. The 2016/17 year provided a number of highlights, including 
an operating profit of $3.35 million resulting in a net profit after tax of $0.60 million.  
Accordingly, directors are recommending an inaugural dividend of one cent per share with a 
dividend reinvestment option. 

Highlights for the Year Ended 31 May 2017 

Key highlights for the year included: 

 Finally, after three years, international dairy prices are now showing a consistent 
recovery back towards mid-cycle prices  

 
 This upward trend has been further reinforced by Fonterra recently increasing the 

2017/18 forecast for its farmgate milk price pay-out to $6.75 per kilogram of 
milksolid up from the 2016/17 forecast of $6.15 (refer to Table 1); 

 Outstanding productivity gains in the five Southland farms together with a full year 
production on those farms (refer to attached CEO Report); 

 Continuing tight control of costs including better utilisation of pasture and reduced 
feed inputs; 

 Significant progress towards completion of the Capital Expenditure plans on each of 
the farms; 

 Further revaluation gains in the annual independent valuation of the farms; 
 The first dividend declared for shareholders of one cent per share with a dividend 

reinvestment option; 
 Adoption post-Balance Date of United Nations sponsored Principles of Responsible 

Investment as a framework for the company decision making; and 
 Recruitment of a full time Chief Financial Officer, Fiona James, as your company 

progresses towards an Initial Public Offering (IPO) on the NZX 

Table 1 
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Progress the company has achieved in recent years is illustrated in the table below: 

 
2014/15 

Actual 
2015/16 

Actual 
2016/17 

Actual 

Production kg MS (000) 717 1,1451 
 2,252 

Number of Peak Cows in Milk 1,800 3,150 5,552 

On-farm Cost per kg MS $1.74 $2.02 $1.31 

Effective Hectares Farmed 585 958 1,711 

Shareholders’ Funds ($000) $32,792 $39,757 $44,988 
1 Two Southland farms acquired in January 2016. 

The combination of higher milk prices, the lift in milk production and cost control has led to 
a significant improvement in operating performance. This is also illustrated in the table 
below: 

NZ$000 
2014/15 

Actual 
2015/16 

Actual 
2016/17 

Actual 

Fonterra Farm-gate Pay-out $4.40 $3.90 $6.15 

Revenue (Including Fonterra 
Dividend) 1,616 2,021 7,309 

Operating Profit/(Loss) (313) (81) 3,335 

Net Profit/(Loss) After Tax2 (1,064) (1,475) 604 
2 Profit After Tax excludes certain fair value adjustments in the valuation of farms and the supplier shares DFNZ is required to own in 
Fonterra. This forms an important part of overall economic shareholder returns. However, these elements are excluded from the 
Profit/(Loss) under Generally Accepting Accounting Principles. Details of these revaluation gains are included in the Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income in the Financial Statements. 

  



3 
 

Long-term rationale for forming DFNZ 

DFNZ was formed to be a best in class dairy farming company and for its shareholders to 
benefit from a number of underlying factors including: 

 New Zealand (NZ) is the largest global exporter of dairy products and is one of the 
lowest cost producers of milk at approximately 50% of the cost of production of 
Chinese milk (refer to Table 2); 

 
 Milk demand continues to grow strongly particularly in China.  Already 25% of all NZ 

dairy exports are to China (refer to Table 3); 
 

 
 Since 1992, NZ dairy farming land capital gain has been 7.9% compound p.a. In 

addition, a budgeted ~4.9% p.a. cash return is achieved after head office costs based 
on a $7/kg milk solid (MS) mid-cycle farm gate milk price.  

 This equates to ~12.8% annualized return over a 25-year period; 
 Over the long term, investment in NZ dairy farming has provided strong returns 

including outperforming the NZX Capital Index by 194% since 1992 (refer Table 4); 

Table 3 

 

Table 2 
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 NZ dairy farmland return has virtually no correlation with the NZX Capital Index 
making farmland a good asset to diversify equity investments; and 

 Volatility in dairy farmland returns is significantly lower than the NZ share market 

 

Plan to List Company on NZX via Initial Public Offering 

As shareholders are aware, it has always been the intention of the board to list DFNZ on the 
NZX as soon as market conditions become suitable. Growing the company and listing onto 
the exchange are the primary goals for the next 12 months. 

DFNZ has continued to engage with a group of major broking houses in NZ since the 
company’s formation.  Their feedback has been: 

 DFNZ should be an attractive/must buy for both institutional and private investors 
once listed as it will be an instrument for gaining exposure to the second largest 
sector of the NZ economy, and due to the lack of alternative investment 
opportunities in the sector 

 Should see strong offshore interest from investors 
 Will likely be priced by offshore investors 
 DFNZ should consider dual listing (possibly Hong Kong) 
 NZ passive funds will need to invest 
 DFNZ needs to approximately double in size from where it is now for a successful 

listing 

Consistent with this feedback, our current plan is to raise NZ$30-50m of additional pre-IPO 
equity to both acquire additional farms and reduce debt (in line with the company’s long-
term policy of having a target debt load between 0-10% of total assets) and thus set the 
company up to list on the NZX. 

  

Table 4 
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We take the opportunity to thank our shareholders, staff, and sharemilkers together with 
their respective families for their support; without each of them DFNZ could not be the 
company it is.  We look forward to meeting as many of you as possible at the Company’s 
Annual General Meeting to be held in Auckland on Friday 24 November 2017 

David Belcher 

Chairman 
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CEO REPORT – Year Ending 31 May 2017 
 
 
Introduction 
DFNZ has experienced a significant level of positive change in the year ending 31 May 2017. 
The acquisition of the five farms in Southland progressed our business strategy, while 
exceeding budgeted production within budgeted costs.   
 
The Lowcliffe farms in Canterbury performed below budgeted production but due to very 
tight cost control have exceeded budgeted profit, independently of the rising milk price.   
 
Fiona James, Chief Financial Officer joined DFNZ in March 2017 as a full-time CFO.  Fiona has 
brought a new level of experience and expertise to this role.  DFNZ moved this role from 
Auckland to Canterbury and consequently has established a small office at Templeton just 
outside Christchurch.    
 
 
Otapiri Farms – Central Southland 
 
Following the settlement of the Rata and Kowhai farms in January 2016 it was pleasing to 
complete the settlement of the remaining three farms in this cluster, Totara, Matai and 
Miro in June 2016.  This represented a significant strategic success for DFNZ to now own 
1,206 hectares across five contiguous farms milking more than 3,500 cows.  A key focus for 
the 2017 financial year was establishing sharemilkers on these farms and developing the 
farms into highly productive units. 
 
Effective 1st June 2016 DFNZ entered in new Herd Owning Sharemilking agreements as 
follows: 

Farm Sharemilking Business Sharemilking Farmer Previous 
Location 

Rata DETJ Limited Dave and Emma Campbell Southland 
Kowhai Scott and Maree Bixley Scott & Maree Bixley Waikato 
Totara M & K Axtens Ltd Martin and Kim Axtens Southland 
Matai Redlands Sharemilking Ltd Ross & Kristy Conder Canterbury 
Miro Redlands Sharemilking Ltd Ross & Kristy Conder Canterbury 

 
The start of the new farming year presented significant challenge as sharemilkers and their 
cows moved onto these farms from various parts of the country, including the North Island.  
Unfamiliarity with the farms plus the high level of deferred maintenance required quick 
reactions and problem solving by both DFNZ, the sharemilkers and their staff.   
 
Despite this the five farms delivered excellent first year milksolids production: 
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Total milksolids of 1,464,000 kg represented 110% of our first-year budget.  Importantly this 
production was achieved within budgeted cost and quantity of bought-in supplementary 
feed and winter grazing.  Farm working expenses for the five Otapiri farms are $1.44/kg 
milksolids.  This is a sound result for a first-year performance.  Looking ahead DFNZ sees this 
measure improving as the benefits of the development detailed below deliver both 
productive and financial efficiency. 
 
The combined record production for these farms under their previous ownership is 
1,483,000 kg.  We fully expect to exceed this in our second season of ownership (2017/18 
season), with budgeted production of 1,530,000 kg milksolids, and firmly controlled input 
costs.   
 
Scott and Maree Bixley requested they be released early from their sharemilking contract.  
This was to enable them to pursue an early opportunity to move to a larger farm being 
vacated by Scott’s cousin.  They have been replaced by a joint venture sharemilking 
company Mansir Sharemilking Ltd, with James Mansell and Bonnie Fulton farming Kowhai 
from 1st June 2017.   
 
Development 
Since taking ownership DFNZ has undertaken a very significant level of new capital 
development and rectifying deferred maintenance.   
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Investment Summary Table  
 

Item Actual 
Investment to 
31 May 2017 

($,000) 

Anticipated 
Further 

Investment 
($,000) 

Anticipated 
Total Spend 

($,000) 

Anticipated 
Completion 

Date 

Houses $1,796 $200 $1,996 31 May 2018 

Drainage $222 $30 $252 31 Dec 2017 

Fencing $159 $0 $159 Completed 

Sheds $219 
 

$0 
 

$219 Completed 

Wetlands $35 $20 $55 31 Dec 2017 

Stand off Pads $75 $300 $375 31 May 2018 

Milking Shed/s 
 

$0 $300 $300 31 May 2018 

Water Supply $352 $40 $392 31 Dec 2017 

Effluent $125 $600 $725 31 Dec 2018 

Phosphate $90 $0 $90 Completed 

Tracks $18 $30 $48 31 Dec 2017 

Pest 
Management 

$0 $12 $12 31 May 2018 

Total $3,091 $1,532 $4,623  

  
 
Houses 
Four new dwellings have been constructed, two to accommodate sharemilkers and two to 
accommodate farm staff.  The following photo is the new sharemilker’s house on Totara. 
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Drainage 
Extensive drainage has been undertaken on all farms.  This has been a combination of 
cleaning open drains, cleaning and repairing existing subsurface drains, or installing new 
subsurface drains where required.   
 
Fencing 
All effluent systems have been fully deer fenced to make them stock proof but more 
importantly safe from entry by unintended persons. Below is part of the Rata effluent 
system following fencing, and a comparative photo of the same site prior to purchase. 
 

  
 
Also, DFNZ has re-fenced parts of the covenanted Queen Elizabeth II (QEII) bush reserves 
where the previous owner had allowed livestock to enter and browse the bush.   
 
Sheds 
Several old and decrepit sheds have been demolished.  The demolished sheds were 
unsound and presented risks to people and animals.  
 
New sheds have been built at Matai and Miro to provide first class calf rearing facilities.  
 
Old woolshed at Matai since demolished.  New calf shed built in its place. 
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New Implement Shed – Kowhai (under construction) 
 

 
 
 
Wetlands 
The physical construction and fencing of the wetlands on Matai and Miro is now complete as 
per the Environment Southland and Fish and Game recommendations.   
 
Planting will begin in late spring once the soil has had time to settle.   
 
The cooperative nature of this development between DFNZ, Environment Southland and Fish 
and Game has been a positive experience for all parties.  
 
A Wetland under construction on Matai with QEII Bush in background (right hand photo) 

 
 
 
Stand Off Pads 
Research into stand-off pads continues. The decision on design and location has been 
carefully considered. Any concrete laid down for cows to stand on needs to be integrated into 
the farm effluent system. The effluent system in turn needs to have adequate capacity to 
handle the increased volume of effluent produced from the stand-off pad area.    
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Milking sheds 
In association with effluent upgrades and stand-off pads, one or two of the cowsheds 
require some investment to modernise their systems and layout to improve cow flow etc.   
 
Water Supply 
The ground water in the Otapiri district can have high levels of soluble iron.  DFNZ has invested 
significantly in treatment equipment to remove this soluble iron which can be as high as 10 
mg per litre.  Ideally the concentration of iron in drinking water should not exceed 0.2 mg per 
litre.   
 
Removing soluble iron reduces repairs and maintenance requirements on water systems, 
increases palatability of the water so cows will drink more, and removes the risk of metabolic 
issue affecting cows from the ingestion of soluble iron.  In summary, lower repairs and 
maintenance costs and increased milk production. 
  
Rata de ironing plant. 

 
 
 
Effluent 
Immediate remedial work to ensure the effluent systems on the farms can operate safely 
has been completed.  As resource consents reach their expiry dates in the coming seasons 
DFNZ will invest capital to upgrade the effluent systems to ensure improved effluent 
containment and management.  DFNZ’s effluent management policy focuses on the dual 
goals of ensuring environmental safety and optimising the nutrient value of the effluent. 
 
Phosphate 
DFNZ accelerated its planned capital fertiliser in the first year of ownership.  As a result, an 
additional $90,000 was invested in addressing paddocks with sub agronomic optimal 
phosphate levels on Matai and Miro.     
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Tracks 
This is largely deferred maintenance to improve the existing tracks.  As a result, cows have a 
more comfortable walk to and from the cowshed, reducing the incidence of lameness. 
 
Pest Control 
Between Matai and Miro farms DFNZ has four QEII covenanted bush blocks.  Two of these 
are among the earliest to be covenanted in Southland.  DFNZ intends installing traps and 
other pest management devices to control the incidence of rats, stoats and ferrets, and feral 
cats.  
 
Lowcliffe 
 

 
 
Illingworth Sharemilking Limited (Jimmy Illingworth and Melissa Tapp) continue to sharemilk 
both the Lowcliffe and Fairview farms. 
 
The season in Canterbury was challenging with milk production throughout the region being 
down on the previous year.  Lowcliffe Dairies ended the season 6% below budgeted 
production.   
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However, farm working costs have been very well contained at only 71% of budget.  
 
So, while milksolid production was below expectations cost control across key expenditure 
items such as nitrogen use, winter grazing, irrigation power, and supplementary feed has 
resulted in an improved profit outcome over budget.  Farm working expenses for the 
combined Lowcliffe farms are an impressive $1.00/kg milksolids. 
 
Development 
In January, a new 525 metre (1,722 ft) centre pivot irrigator began applying water to 46 
hectares on the Deer Block.  This allows for an expected 20% improvement in water use 
efficiency and corresponding grass growth above the previous Roto-Rainer irrigator.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Two new wells have been drilled on the Fairview and Lowcliffe farms.  The Lowcliffe well in 
particular has yielded very well while the Fairview well is adequate.  These new water 
sources will, subject to resource consent allow DFNZ to irrigate more reliably and no longer 
be reliant on surface drain takes that for the past three seasons have been on close to full 
restriction, meaning Lowcliffe Dairies has not been able to irrigate from those water 
sources.  Also, the drains are a sensitive ecosystem that will benefit from having less 
irrigation water abstraction.    
 
Boulton Lease 
This adjoining lease land was tendered to the open market in May 2017.  An additional 71 
hectares was offered and the term of the lease extended.  DFNZ was successful with its 
tender.  Subject to Overseas Investment Office approval DFNZ has secured the use of this 
now 255 hectares of land through to May 2027.   
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited  
 
Health and Safety 
DFNZ assumes a leadership role for Health & Safety (H&S) on our farms.  We recognise we 
have a clear responsibility to provide our sharemilkers with farms that have safely operating 
infrastructure such as structural and electrical soundness etc.  DFNZ also acts in a way that 
encourages the development of a positive health and safety culture on our farms for all 
people involved.   
 
A significant focus for the year has been the development of a comprehensive H&S policy 
with input from HazardCo and Hesketh Henry.   
 
A significant number of hazards have been identified on all farms.  These have been or are in 
the process of continuously being addressed.   Examples are: 

• Deer fencing all effluent holding structures 
• Installing concrete riser pipes where previously open ground level holes had existed 
• Having electrical safety devices installed on all houses in Southland and earth pegs 

fitted with protective covers. 
• In-ground vehicle inspection pits in sheds filled in. 

 
New sharemilkers in Southland were introduced to HazardCo as a H&S support provider in 
June 2016. HazardCo have also proactively been on farm in a review of the sharemilkers’ 
H&S processes and implementation. 
 
Environment 
Significant focus on environmental enhancement has been applied to the Otapiri farms.  
Examples include: 

• Water meters installed on all water takes and at cowsheds to allow sharemilkers to 
monitor how much water they are using and to operate within our resource consent 
conditions. 

• Positive relationships have been established with Environment Southland, Fish and 
Game, and QEII Trust.  DFNZ looks to embrace the natural attributes of these farms 
via the development of wetlands and the protection of the covenanted QEII bush.  

• Improved effluent management. 
 
People 
Craig Nevatt expressed his intention to pursue his own accounting business pathway early in 
the 2017 financial year.  As a result, a search for a new Chief Financial Officer (CFO) began 
and Fiona James joined DFNZ in March 2017.  In conjunction with the change of personnel 
has been a change in location for the CFO role.  This is now located in Canterbury.   
 
I thank Craig Nevatt for his contribution to the DFNZ business.  Craig’s clear understanding 
of dairy farming was a real asset as DFNZ has travelled through the development of 
budgeting tools and on farm development over the past 18 months.   
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Fiona James joined DFNZ from PGG Wrightson where she was Chief Financial Controller.  
With PGG Wrightson being a publicly listed company, Fiona brings real experience and skills 
that are lifting the bar on the CFO role and positioning the business well for future growth.  

The Production Committee and in particular Richard Townshend has been very active on 
farm during the 2017 financial year.  Achieving clear understanding and alignment on the 
farm system between DFNZ as farm owner and sharemilkers as farmers is critical to the 
success of the Herd Owning Sharemilker model.  The Production Committee is instrumental 
in overseeing this process and had significant input into the capital development 
programme on the farms. 

Our part-time Operations Manager, Stephen (Rusty) Reynders, was also instrumental in 
executing the development programme at Otapiri.  Without Rusty’s determination to get 
the job done the development agenda at Otapiri would not be as advanced as it is.   

Craig McBeth 
CEO 



DAIRY FARMS NZ LIMITED
Key financial disclosures 
For the year ended 31 May 2017

Directors' Responsibility Statement
For the year ended 31 May 2017

For and on behalf of the Board

David Belcher John Brabazon
Chairman  Director and Chair of Audit and

 Risk Committee 

The Directors are pleased to present the financial statements for Dairy Farms NZ Limited and its 
controlled entities (together the "Group") set out on pages 2 to 18 for the year ended 31 May 2017.

The financial statements contained on pages 17 to 33 have been authorised for issue on 25 August 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 May 2017 and the financial performance and cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.

The Directors consider that the financial statements of the Group have been prepared using appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable judgements and estimates and 
that all of the relevant financial reporting and accounting standards have been followed.

The Directors believe that proper accounting records have been kept which enable, with reasonable 
accuracy, the determination of the financial position of the Group and facilitate compliance of the 
financial statements with the Financial Reporting Act 2013 and the Companies Act 2013.
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 May 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

Operating revenue 1 6,987            1,905            
Farm working expenses 2 (2,897)           (1,205)           
Farm margin 4,090            700               

Other income 3 322               116               
Corporate farm management and administration 4 (1,077)           (897)              

3,335            (81)                

Non-operating items 5 (190)              (986)              
3,145            (1,067)           

Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 (827)              (413)              
EBIT 2,318            (1,480)           

Net interest costs 6 (1,245)           18                 
Leases 6 (192)              (192)              
Net interest and finance costs (1,437)           (174)              
Net profit/(loss) before tax 881               (1,654)           

Income tax expense 7 (277)              179               

Net profit/(loss) after tax 604               (1,475)           

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (New Zealand Dollars) 8 0.014            (0.039)           
Diluted earnings per share (New Zealand Dollars) 0.014            (0.039)           

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

EBITDA 

Operating profit
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 May 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

Net profit/(loss) after tax 604               (1,475)           
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of land and improvements 1,036            2,498            
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of buildings 219               197               
Deferred tax on revaluations (275)              (55)                
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of equity instruments 231               293               

1,211            2,933            

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of income tax 1,211            2,933            

Total comprehensive income for the period 1,815            1,458            

Printed:
Friday, 25 August 2017
10:35:16 AM

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Segment Report 
For the year ended/as at 31 May 2017

(a) Operating Segments

(b) Operating Segment Information 

 2017
$000 

 2016
$000 

 2017
$000 

 2016
$000 

 2017
$000 

 2016
$000 

 2017
$000 

 2016
$000 

 2017
$000 

 2016
$000 

Total segment revenue 2,462           1,650          4,525          254             6,987          1,904          -                     1                 6,987          1,905          
Farm working expenses (786)             (932)            (2,111)         (273)            (2,897)         (1,205)         -                     -                  (2,897)         (1,205)         
Farm margin 1,676           718             2,414          (19)              4,090          699             -                     1                 4,090          700             
Other income 186              116             136             -                  322             116             -                     -                  322             116             
Administration (327)             (70)              (852)            (34)              (1,179)         (104)            102                (793)            (1,077)         (897)            
Operating profit 1,535           764             1,698          (53)              3,233          711             102                (792)            3,335          (81)              
Non-operating items (115)             (630)            (75)              (356)            (190)            (986)            -                     -                  (190)            (986)            

1,420           134             1,623          (409)            3,043          (275)            102                (792)            3,145          (1,067)         
Depreciation and amortisation expense (378)             (341)            (437)            (62)              (815)            (403)            (12)                 (10)              (827)            (413)            
EBIT 1,042           (207)            1,186          (471)            2,228          (678)            90                  (802)            2,318          (1,480)         
Net interest and finance costs (209)             (190)            (1,265)         (141)            (1,474)         (331)            37                  157             (1,437)         (174)            

833              (397)            (79)              (612)            754             (1,009)         127                (645)            881             (1,654)         
Income tax expense (62)               (88)              (7)                72               (69)              (16)              (208)               195             (277)            179             
Net profit/(loss) after tax 771              (485)            (86)              (540)            685             (1,025)         (81)                 (450)            604             (1,475)         

EBITDA

Net profit/(loss) before tax

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 Southland  Canterbury  Total operating segments  Other  Total 

The Group has two primary operating divisions: Canterbury and Southland.  Aside from varying geographical locations, these segments have different soil types, irrigation requirements and 
regional council environmental compliance obligations.  Key management reporting is at a segment level as well as individual farm level.

Other non-segmented amounts relate to Corporate activities including finance, treasury, Board and executive costs, and includes consolidation adjustments.  An admin fee is charged annually to 
each farm for a portion of corporate costs, and eliminated on consolidation.
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 May 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash was provided from:

Receipts from customers 5,584           1,794          
Dividends received 56                116             
Income tax received -                  56               
Interest received 86                172             

           5,726 2,138          
Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers and employees (4,137)          (2,228)         
Interest paid (1,302)          (154)            
Income tax paid (23)              -                 

(5,462)          (2,382)         
Net cash flow from operating activities 264              (244)            

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash was applied to:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (29,528)        (22,004)       
Purchase of investments (4,279)          (447)            

(33,807)        (22,451)       
Net cash flow from investing activities (33,807)        (22,451)       

Cash flows from financing activities
Cash was provided from:

Increase in external borrowings and bank overdraft 31,265         11,190        
Issue of ordinary shares 3,500           5,817          
Issue of subordinated ordinary shares 94                100             
Customer loan drawings -                  131             

34,859         17,238        
Cash was applied to:

Brokerage and cash issue costs, promoter's and underwriting fees (201)            (434)            
     (201)            (434)            

Net cash flow from financing activities 34,658         16,804        

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 1,115           (5,891)         
Opening cash 2,750           8,641          
Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,865           2,750          

2017
$000

2016
$000

Net profit after tax 604              (1,475)         
Add/(deduct) non-cash/non operating items:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 827              413             
Non-operating items 190              986             
Change in deferred taxation 503              (125)            
Other non-cash/non-operating items (963)            (30)              

1,161           (231)            
Add/(deduct) movement in working capital items:

Change in working capital due to sale/purchase of businesses, PP&E 27,016         (26,820)       
Change in inventories (36)              (34)              
Change in accounts receivable and prepayments (1,080)          (491)            
Change in trade creditors, provisions and accruals (26,825)        27,275        
Change in income tax payable/receivable 28                57               
Change in other current assets/liabilities -                  -                 

(897)            (13)              
Net cash flow from operating activities 264              (244)            

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Reconciliation of Profit After Tax With Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 May 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,865           2,750          
Trade and other receivables 10 1,865           730             
Income tax receivable 7 27 55 
Inventories 75 39 
Total current assets 5,832           3,574          

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 11 76,007         72,947        
Intangible assets - 1 
Investments 13 6,816           1,957 
Deferred tax asset 7 - 260 
Other non-current assets 9 9                 
Total non-current assets 82,832         75,174        

Total assets 88,664         78,748        

LIABILITIES
Current
Debt due within one year 9 131              - 
Accounts payable and accruals 14 667              27,490        
Total current liabilities 798              27,490        

Non-current
Long-term debt 9 42,455         11,321        
Deferred tax liability 7 423              180             
Total non-current liabilities 42,878         11,501        

Total liabilities 43,676         38,991        

EQUITY
Share capital 25 42,912         39,519        
Reserves 25 4,221           2,985          
Retained earnings 25 (2,145)          (2,747)         
Total equity 44,988         39,757        
Total liabilities and equity 88,664         78,748        

David Belcher John Brabazon
Chairman Director and Audit Committee Chairman

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

These financial statements have been authorised for issue on 25 August 2017.
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 May 2017

 Ordinary fully 
paid shares 

 Sub-ordinated 
ordinary fully 

paid shares 
 Share option 

reserve 
 Revaluation 

reserve 
 Fair value 

reserve 
 Retained 
earnings  Total equity 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at 1 June 2015 33,087          948                30                  327                   (328)               (1,272)             32,792          

Profit or loss -                    -                     -                     -                        -                     (1,475)             (1,475)          
Other comprehensive income

-                                          -                      - 2,043                -                     -                       2,043            
-                    -                                          - 597                   -                     -                       597               
-                                          - -                     -                        293                -                       293               

Total other comprehensive income -                    -                     -                     2,640                293                -                       2,933            
-                    -                     -                     2,640                293                (1,475)             1,458            

            5,817                  100                      -                         -                       -                        - 5,917            
              (143)                       -                      -                         -                       -                        - (143)             
              (128)                       -                      -                         -                       -                        - (128)             
              (117)                       -                      -                         -                       -                        - (117)             
                (45)                       -                      -                         -                       -                        - (45)                
                    -                       - 23                                          -                       -                        - 23                 

Dividends to shareholders -                                          - -                     -                                              -                        -                     - 
            5,384 100                23                                          -                       -                        -             5,507 

Balance at 31 May 2016 38,471          1,048             53                  2,967                (35)                 (2,747)             39,757          

Balance at 1 June 2016 38,471          1,048             53                  2,967                (35)                 (2,747)             39,757          

Profit or loss -                    -                     -                     -                        -                     604                  604               
Other comprehensive income

-                                          -                      - 1,036                -                     -                       1,036            
-                    -                                          - (56)                   -                     -                       (56)                
-                                          - -                     -                        231                -                       231               

Total other comprehensive income -                    -                     -                     980                   231                -                       1,211            
-                    -                     -                     980                   231                604                  1,815            

            3,500 95                  -                     -                        -                     -                       3,595            
              (132) -                     -                     -                        -                     -                       (132)             
                (70) -                     -                     -                        -                     -                       (70)                
                    - -                     23                  -                        -                     -                       23                 
                    -                       -                      - -                                              -                        - -                    
            3,298 95                  23                                          -                       -                        -             3,416 

Balance at 31 May 2017 41,769          1,143             76                  3,947                196                (2,143)             44,988          

Building revaluation gains and losses, net of tax
Changes in fair value of equity instruments, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with shareholders, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to shareholders
Proceeds from shares issued
Promoter's fees
Brokerage fees
Share option reserve movement
Dividends to shareholders
Total contributions by and distributions to shareholders

Total comprehensive income for the period

Land and improvements revaluation gains and losses
Building revaluation gains and losses, net of tax
Changes in fair value of equity instruments, net of tax

Land and improvements revaluation gains and losses

Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with shareholders, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to shareholders
Proceeds from shares issued
Promoter's fees
Brokerage fees
Underwrite fees
Cash issue costs
Share option reserve movement

Total contributions by and distributions to shareholders

Total comprehensive income for the period
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Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Additional financial disclosures including notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 May 2017

1 Operating Revenue
2017
$000

2016
$000

Farm milk proceeds 6,968               1,873            
Other farm income 19                    32                 
Total operating revenue 6,987               1,905            

0

Revenue

Milk sales

2 Farm Working Expenses
Farm Working Expenses includes the following items by nature:
Fertiliser 725                  433               
Grazing 730                  209               
Repairs and maintenance 497                  207               
Supplementary feed 375                  128               
Other 570                  228               

2,897               1,205            

3 Other Income

Fonterra dividends received 322                  116               
322                  116               

4 Corporate Farm Management and Administration

includes the following items:
2017
$000

2016
$000

Audit of annual financial statements of the Company and Group - PWC 36                    29                 
Other non-audit services provided by PWC
 - Tax compliance services 10                    -                    
Directors' fees 110                  110               
Donations 5                      5                   
Employee remuneration 352                  274               
Legal fees 24                    27                 
Share option expense 23                    23                 
Other expenses 517                  429               

1,077               897               

5 Non Operating Items
2017
$000

2016
$000

Capital gains/(losses) on revaluation of land and improvements 236                  (982)             
Capital gains/(losses) on revaluation of buildings (392)                (4)                  
Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets (34)                   -                    

(190)                (986)             

6 Interest - Finance Income and Expense 2017
$000

2016
$000

Finance income contains the following items:
Other interest income 85                    172               

Finance income 85                    172               

Interest funding contains the following items:
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts (1,168)             (154)             
Bank facility fees (162)                                    - 

Interest funding expense (1,330)             (154)             
Net interest (1,245)             18                 

Leases contains the following items:
Canterbury farm lease (192)                              (192)

Leases expense (192)                (192)             
Net interest and finance costs (1,437)             (174)             

Interest income

Interest expense

Income Recognition Accounting Policies

The Group recognises interest revenue on an accruals basis when the services are rendered using the effective interest rate method.

Revenue from the sale of milk is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of any discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer at the time the milk is picked up.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be 
met before revenue is recognised.

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

Finance costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset that takes a substantial time to construct are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. During the year there was no capitalised 
interest.  Other finance costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.
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7 Income Taxes
2017
$000

2016
$000

Current tax expense
Current year (51)                   (6)                  
Adjustments for prior years -                       -                    

(51)                   (6)                  
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 35                    (1)                  
Recognition/(utilisation) of tax losses (283)                163               
Adjustments for prior years 22                    1                   

(226)                163               
Income tax (expense)/income (277)                179               

2017
%

2017
$000

2016
%

2016
$000

Income tax using the Company's domestic tax rate 28.0% (247)               28.0% 463               
Non-deductible expenses 0.9% (8)                   -0.5% (9)                  
Property, plant and equipment revaluations not recognised 5.0% (44)                 -16.6% (275)             
Under/(over) provided in prior years -2.5% 22                  0.0% -                    

31.4% (277)               10.8% 179               
-                     -                    

Provision for tax
Income tax expense (51)                   (6)                  
RWT paid -                       15                 
Imputation credits/RWT attached to dividends received 23                    39                 
Transfers, refunds and adjustments 55                    7                   
Residual tax refund due/(tax to pay) 27                    55                 

Imputation credits
Balance as at 1 June 55                    112               
Taxation paid -                       15                 
Imputation credits/RWT attached to dividends received 23                    39                 
Imputation credits attached to dividends paid -                       -                    
Transfers, refunds and adjustments (55)                   (112)             
Balance as at 31 May 23                    55                 

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Assets
2017
$000

Assets
2016
$000

Liabilities
2017
$000

Liabilities
2016
$000

Net
2017
$000

Net
2016
$000

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Group
Property, plant and equipment -                     (31)                (426)                 (180)               (426)                (211)             
Tax losses available to carry forward -                     283                -                        -                     -                       283               
Provisions 3                    8                    -                        -                     3                      8                   
Tax asset/(liability) 3                    260                (426)                 (180)               (423)                80                 

423                  

Balance
1 Jun 2015

$000

Recognised in profit 
or loss

$000

Recognised in 
other 

comprehensive 
income

$000

Balance
31 May 2016

$000

Recognised in profit 
or loss

$000

Recognised in other 
comprehensive 

income
$000

Balance
31 May 2017

$000

Group
Property, plant and equipment (127)             (29)                 (55)                (211)                 60                  (275)                (426)             
Provisions -                    8                    -                     8                       (5)                   -                       3                   
Tax losses available to carry forward 99                 184                -                     283                   (283)               -                       -                    
Other items -                    -                     -                     -                        -                     -                       -                    

(28)                163                (55)                80                     (228)               (275)                (423)             

Income Tax Accounting Policies

Movement in deferred tax on temporary differences during the year

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxation and is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in 
which case it is recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable with respect to previous periods.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the initial recognition of goodwill or differences relating to subsidiaries.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted at the 
reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be recognised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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8 Earnings Per Share and Net Tangible Assets

Basic earnings per share

Number of shares
2017

000
2016

000
Weighted average number of shares - ordinary 42,653             37,807          
Weighted average number of shares - diluted 44,054             39,079          
Number of ordinary shares 44,423             40,923          
Number of sub-ordinated shares 1,495               1,375            
Number of options 5,950               5,950            
Number of farmer-director options 409                  409               
Total shares 52,278             48,657          

2017
$000

2016
$000

Net Tangible Assets
Total assets 88,664             78,748          
Total liabilities (43,676)           (38,991)        
less  intangible assets -                       (1)                  
less  deferred tax 423                  (80)                

45,411             39,676          

2017
$

2016
$

Net tangible assets per share - basic 1.022               0.970            
Earnings per share - basic 0.014               (0.039)          
Earnings per share - diluted 0.014               (0.039)          

Earnings per Share Accounting Policies

9 Cash and Financing Facilities 2017
$000

2016
$000

Current bank trading accounts 1,896               (856)             
Funds available for OIO capital spend 1,969               3,606            
Cash and cash equivalents 3,865               2,750            
Fonterra Co-op support short term loan (131)                -                    
Fonterra Co-op support long term loan -                       (131)             
Term financing facilities (42,455)           (11,190)        

(38,721)           (8,571)          
ASB loan

- A term debt facility of $43 million maturing on 30 September 2018.
- Overdraft facilities of $3 million.

Fonterra Co-op support loan

10 Trade and Other Receivables
2017
$000

2016
$000

Accounts receivable 497                  102               
Accrued income 1,264               210               
Prepayments 72                    341               
Other receivables 32                    77                 

1,865               730               

Trade and Other Receivables Accounting Policies

Determination of Fair Values

Impairment of Trade Receivables

There is no provision for bad debts at 31 May 2017 (2016: Nil) and no receivables have been written off during the year.

Trade receivables are considered past due when they have been operated outside of the normal key trade terms.  When forming a view management considers the counterparty’s ability to pay, the level 
of security and the risk of loss.

The carrying value of the trade and other receivables is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

The Company has a facility agreement with ASB Bank Limited which provides bank facilities of up to $46 million.  The agreement contains various terms that are standard for facilities of this nature, including 
reporting obligations.  The Company has granted a general security deed and mortgage over all its wholly-owned New Zealand assets.   Interest is being charged at the Committed Cash Advance Facility 
rate prescribed by ASB Bank Limited and is reset every 90 days.

During 2015 Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited provided a support loan on shared up milksolids produced between 1 June and 30 November 2015.  This loan is not repayable until the Fonterra Total 
Advance Payment Rate is more than $6.00 per kg/MS.  From 1 June 2017 interest will be changed on the loan.  Repayment will be via deduction from milk revenue receipts.  Based on current forecast rates 
payment deductions will begin in September 2017, hence DFNZ has reclassified this loan as current.

The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 May 2017 was based on the profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of $604,000 (2016: $(1,475,000)) by the weighted average number of shares, 
42,652,712 (2016: 37,806,931) on issue.  There are dilutive shares in the form of sub-ordinated shares.  

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to shareholders by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to shareholders and the number of shares outstanding to include the effects of all 
potential dilutive shares. 

The Company's bank facilities include:

The share options are not considered to be dilutive shares.  The options are anti-dilutive as any conversion to ordinary shares would increase the profit due to a reduction in bank debt and interest charges.  
If this were taken into account, the earnings per share would be $0.016 (2016 $(0.029)).

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of 
the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Accrued income includes amounts estimated as being receivable for milk supplied to Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited ("Fonterra") and Synlait Milk Limited ("Synlait") during the year but which are not 
able to be invoiced until after balance date.  These accruals are based on 50% (reflecting the share-milking agreements) of an estimated total pay-out of $6.15/kg milk solids from Fonterra, whereas receipts 
during the year averaged $4.80/kg milk solids.  From Synlait the estimated total pay-out is $6.15/kg milk solids whereas receipts during the year averaged $4.85/kg milk solids.

Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost less impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
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11 Property, Plant and Equipment
Buildings

$000

Leasehold land 
improvements

$000

Plant and 
equipment

$000

Capital works 
projects

$000
Total
$000

Cost 
Balance at 1 June 2015 18,386           2,425             115                   1,797             242                  22,965          
Additions 41,130           5,889             -                        1,652             195                  48,866          

50                  32                  -                        119                (242)                (41)                
1,516             54                  -                        (33)                 (35)                   1,502            

Balance at 31 May 2016 61,082           8,400             115                   3,535             160                  73,292          

Balance at 1 June 2016 61,082           8,400             115                   3,535             160                  73,292          
Additions 819                1,024             -                        695                836                  3,374            

-                     (34)                -                        -                     (554)                (588)             
1,272             (583)              -                        -                     -                       689               

Balance at 31 May 2017 63,173           8,807             115                   4,230             442                  76,767          

Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 June 2015 -                     -                     4                       134                -                       138               
Depreciation for the year -                     187                23                     203                -                       413               
Disposals and transfers to other asset classes -                     -                     -                        -                     -                       -                    
Revaluation -                     (187)              -                        (19)                 -                       (206)             
Balance at 31 May 2016 -                     -                     27                     318                -                       345               

Balance at 1 June 2016 -                     -                     27                     318                -                       345               
Depreciation for the year -                     412                23                     392                -                       827               

-                     -                       
-                     (412)              -                        -                     -                       (412)             

Balance at 31 May 2017 -                     -                     50                     710                -                       760               

Carrying amounts
At 1 June 2015 18,386           2,425             111                   1,663             242                  22,827          
At 31 May 2016 61,082           8,400             88                     3,217             160                  72,947          
At 1 June 2016 61,082           8,400             88                     3,217             160                  72,947          
At 31 May 2017 63,173           8,807             65                     3,520             442                  76,007          

Property, Plant & Equipment Accounting Policies

Subsequent Costs

Borrowing Costs

Depreciation

Fair value movements

Impairment

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each item of property, buildings, plant and equipment.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter 
of the lease term and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated.  The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are between 2 and 40 years for plant and equipment and between 10 
and 50 years for buildings.  Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at reporting date.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other comprehensive income and shown as reserves in shareholders' equity.  Decreases that offset previous 
increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are recognised in profit or loss. When revalued assets are 
sold, the amounts included in reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

Revaluation
Disposals and transfers to other asset classes

The carrying amounts of the Group's property, plant & equipment assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the recoverable amount.

Revaluation

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to 
the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Net losses on revaluation of $156,166 were charged against profit.  Gains on revaluation totalling $1,256,546 were recognised in other comprehensive income.  The carrying amounts that would have been 
recognised had the assets been carried under the cost model are $61,505,311 for freehold land and improvements (2016: $60,686,238), and $8,980,744 for buildings (2016: $7,990,588).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the cost of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.  When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Disposals and transfers to other asset classes

Land and buildings comprise farm properties.  Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.  Valuations are 
performed annually to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.  Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset

At year end the freehold land & improvements and buildings were valued by an independent valuer, David Montgomery of Agribusiness Consultants & Valuers Limited.  The valuations were performed on 
the basis of comparable market transactions with reference to the highest and best use and are Level 2 fair values.  The valuation techniques have remained consistent and therefore there has been no 
transfer between fair value levels from the prior year.

Freehold land
and improvements

$000

Revaluation
Disposals and transfers to other asset classes

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.  All other borrowing costs are expensed as 
they are incurred.
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12 Group entities

Significant Subsidiaries  Activity 
 2017

% 
 2016

% 

Dairy Farms NZ No 2 Limited Non - trading 100% 100%
Kowhai Dairies (Otapiri) Limited Farm investor and operator 100% 100%
Lowcliffe Dairies Limited Farm investor and operator 100% 100%
Matai Dairies (Otapiri) Limited Farm investor and operator 100% 100%
Miro Dairies (Otapiri) Limited Farm investor and operator 100% 100%
Rata Dairies (Otapiri) Limited Farm investor and operator 100% 100%
Totara Dairies (Otapiri) Limited Farm investor and operator  100% 100%

13 Investments Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

Equity instruments at fair value:
Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited 15 6,789               1,943            
Supplier shares:
Ballance Agri-Nutrients Limited 26                    14                 
Farmlands Co-operative Society Limited 1                      -                    

6,816               1,957            
Fonterra shares

Supplier shares

Investments Accounting Policies
Determination of Fair Values

14 Trade and Other Payables
2017
$000

2016
$000

Trade creditors 520                  547               
GST payable 69                    -                    
Short-term payable under purchase contract -                       26,820          
Accruals and other liabilities 66                    108               
Employee entitlements 12                    15                 

667                  27,490          

Trade and Other Payables Accounting Policies

15 Financial Instruments

Liquidity Risk

Market Risk

Funding Risk

Credit Risk

The objectives of the Group's funding and liquidity policy is to ensure all financial obligations are met when due, provide adequate protection, even under crisis scenarios, and achieve competitive funding 
within the limitations of liquidity requirements.

Market risk is the potential for change in the value of balance sheet positions caused by a change in the value, volatility or relationship between market risks and prices.  Market risk arises from the mismatch 
between assets and liabilities, both on and off balance sheet.  Market risk includes price and interest rate risk.  Price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes 
in market rates.  Interest rate risk is the risk that the interest margin will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate risk is managed by operating within approved policy limits using an 
interest rate duration approach.  

The fair value of financial assets at fair value and equity instruments that are not held for trading is determined by reference to the market price, unless other objective reliable evidence suggests a different 
value.  Other investments where no active market exists are held at historical cost.

The Fonterra shares are classified as financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income.  The fair value of the Fonterra shares at balance date as quoted on the New Zealand Exchange 
was $6.00 per share (2015: $5.85).  Additional shares were purchased in 7 tranches during the year, plus two dividend reinvestment allotments, at an average cost of $5.83 per share.  The total increase in 
value between opening value, acquisition cost and fair value at balance date of $231,000 has been recognised in other comprehensive income.

Credit risk is the potential for loss that could occur as a result of a counterparty failing to discharge its obligations.  This may be due to drought, bio-security issues or volatility in commodity prices.  The Group 
has two key customers, being Fonterra and Synlait.  The Group remains vigilant to any risks of these customers presenting a credit risk.  No loss allowance provision was made at 31 May 2017 as the 
probability of a lifetime loss on the trade receivables was considered remote.

The Group is committed to the management of risk to achieve sustainability of service, employment and profits, and therefore, takes on controlled amounts of risk when considered appropriate.
The primary risks are those of liquidity, market (price and interest rate), funding and credit risk.

Ownership interest

The Group manages this risk by forecasting daily cash requirements, forecasting future funding requirements and maintaining an adequate liquidity buffer.

The Board maintains a set of delegated authorities, that defines the responsibilities delegated to management and those retained by the Board.  The Board approves these delegated authorities and reviews 
them as required.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in raising funds at short notice to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  The Group monitors its liquidity daily, weekly and 
monthly and maintains appropriate liquid assets and committed bank funding facilities to meet all obligations in a timely and cost efficient manner.  Management of liquidity risk is designed to ensure that the 
Group has the ability to meet financial obligations as they fall due.

Investment in co-operative suppliers are required in order to access preferential purchasing rights, and are held at historical cost.

Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost.

Floating rate borrowings are used for general funding activities. Interest rate swaps, interest rate options and forward rate agreements are used to hedge the floating rate exposure as deemed appropriate. 
The Group had Nil interest rate derivatives at balance date (2016: Nil).

Funding risk is the risk of over-reliance on a funding source to the extent that a change in that funding source could increase overall funding costs or cause difficulty in raising funds.  The Group does not 
have a policy of funding diversification but aims to reduce debt via increased equity.  The funding policy augments the Group's liquidity policy with it's aim to ensure the Group has a stable diversified funding 
base without over-reliance on any one market sector.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the review and ratification of the Group's systems of risk management, internal compliance and control, code of conduct and legal compliance.
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15 Financial Instruments (continued)

Capital Management

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity of net profit after tax for the period to 31 May 2017, and shareholders equity at that date, to reasonably possible changes in conditions is as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

Impact on net profit after tax (305)               (40)                305                40                  563                   235                (563)                (235)             
Impact on equity (305)               (40)                305                40                  563                   235                (563)                (235)             

Quantitative disclosures
(a) Liquidity Risk - Contractual Maturity Analysis

2017
Within 12 

months  1 to 5 years  Beyond 5 years 
Contractual cash 

flow Balance Sheet

Liabilities
Bank facilities -                     42,455             -                     44,670             42,455          
Fonterra Co-op support loan 131                -                        -                     133                  131               
Trade and other payables 667                -                        -                     667                  667               

798                42,455             -                     45,469             43,253          
2016
Liabilities

Bank facilities 856                11,190             -                     12,652             12,046          
Fonterra Co-op support loan -                     131                   -                     133                  131               
Trade and other payables 27,490          -                        -                     27,490             27,490          

28,346          11,321             -                     40,275             39,667          

(b) Accounting classifications and fair values
The tables below set out the Group's classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair values.

2017

 Designated at 
fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income
$000 

 Designated at fair 
value through 
profit and loss

$000 

 Other amortised 
cost
$000 

 Total carrying 
amount

$000 
 Fair value

$000 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents                      -                         -              3,865 3,865                           3,865 
Trade and other receivables                      -                         - 1,865             1,865               1,865            
Other investments 6,789                                     - 27                  6,816               6,816            

6,789             -                        5,757             12,546             12,546          
Liabilities

Trade and other payables                      -                         - 598                598                  598               
Fonterra Co-op support loan                      -                         - 131                131                  131               
Bank facilities                      -                         - 42,455           42,455             42,455          

-                     -                        43,184           43,184             43,184          
2016
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents -                     -                        2,750             2,750               2,750            
Trade and other receivables -                     -                        730                730                  730               
Other investments 1,943             -                        14                  1,957               1,957            

1,943             -                        3,494             5,437               5,437            
Liabilities

Trade and other payables -                     -                        27,490           27,490             27,490          
Fonterra Co-op support loan -                     -                        131                131                  131               
Bank facilities -                     -                        12,046           12,046             12,046          

-                     -                        39,667           39,667             39,667          

Other market risks such as foreign exchange are not considered likely to lead to material change over the next reporting period.  For this reason sensitivity analysis of these market risks is not included.

Milk prices increase by $0.50Interest rates increase by 1% Interest rates decrease by 1%

The capital of the Group consists of share capital, reserves, and retained earnings.
The policy of the Group is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence while providing the ability to develop future business initiatives. In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure the Group has, from time to time, issued new shares.  This policy is reviewed regularly by the Board and has not been changed during the period.

The following tables analyse the Group financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date (reported on an 
undiscounted basis). 

Milk prices decrease by $0.50

The Treasury policy of the Group is being developed to partially insulate earnings from the effect of short-term fluctuations in milk prices. Hedges are not currently taken but are being considered.  The Group 
intends to achieve a low debt ratio to minimise risks of interest rate increases, however takes on debt as required to fund farm purchases in advance of equity raises.  Over the longer term however, 
permanent changes in milk prices or interest rates will have an impact on profit.  
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15 Financial Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

2017 Note
 Level 1

$000 
 Level 2

$000 
 Level 3

$000 
 Total
$000 

Assets
Other investments 13                  6,789                -                     -                       6,789            

6,789                -                     -                       6,789            
Liabilities

-                        -                     -                       -                    
2016
Assets

Other investments 13                  1,943                -                     -                       1,943            
1,943                -                     -                       1,943            

Liabilities
-                        -                     -                       -                    

(c) Credit Risk

Financial Instruments Accounting Policies
(i) Non-derivative Financial Assets

- the asset is held within a business model with an objective to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial assets measured at fair value

(ii) Non-derivative Financial Liabilities
Interest-bearing Borrowings

16 Operating Leases Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
Within one year 21                  96                    192               
Between one and five years -                       96                 
Beyond five years -                       -                    

96                    288               

Operating Leases Accounting Policies

17 Seasonality of Operations

There have been no material movements between the fair value hierarchy during the year ended 31 May 2017.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value.  If the financial asset is not subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss, the initial investment includes transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the asset's acquisition or origination.  The Group subsequently measures financial assets at either fair value or amortised cost.

However, for investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the Group may elect at initial recognition to present gains and losses through other comprehensive income.  For instruments 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income gains and losses are never reclassified to profit and loss and no impairments are recognised in profit and loss.  Dividends earned from such 
investments are recognised in profit and loss unless the dividends clearly represent a repayment of part of the cost of investment.

The Group's banking facilities are based on floating interest rates.  Therefore the fair value of the banking facilities equals the carrying value.  

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk principally consist of bank balances and trade debtors.  The Group places its cash and short term investments with 
ASB Bank. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade debtors are limited to receivables due from Fonterra and Synlait.

Interest-bearing borrowings are classified as other financial liabilities and are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets other than those classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost are subsequently measured at fair value with all changes recognised in profit or loss.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  The different levels have been defined as follows:

The Group leases property adjoining its Canterbury properties and farms this land in conjunction with the owned land. The lease expires on 13 December 2017.  Rent is subject to an annual consumer price 
index adjustment.

Non-derivative financial assets comprise investments in equity, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents.  The Group early adopted NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1 June 2016.  NZ 
IFRS 9 requires that an entity classifies its financial assets at either amortised cost or fair value depending on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.  Other than the reclassification of financial assets and related disclosures there has been no impact on the financial statements.  In the prior year the equity 
investments were designated as available for sale.

The Group is subject to seasonal and cyclical fluctuations.  Milk production peaks from September to March following seasonal grass growth.  Cash income relating to this milk includes a deferred element 
which is accrued for.  Farm input costs are generally weighted towards the winter and spring seasons, relating to cow winter grazing costs and spring supplements.  Following purchase of farms there is 
typically a 12-24 month cycle of capital development expenditure to bring farms up to full productivity.    The Group recognises that these seasonal and cyclical activities are the nature of the industry and 
plans and manages its business accordingly.  

Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and net of any impairment loss, if:

The Group initially recognises financial assets on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group's maximum credit exposure. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  Where the Group is a lessee, minimum payments under operating 
lease agreements are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated operating costs such as maintenance are expensed as incurred.
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18  Commitments 
2017
$000

2016
$000

There are commitments with respect to:
Capital expenditure not provided for 8                      201               
OIO investment obligations 1,300               3,390            

1,308               3,591            

Overseas Investment Office (OIO)

19  Contingent Liabilities 
2017
$000

2016
$000

There are contingent liabilities with respect to:
Fonterra share purchases 10,187             14,944          

10,187             14,944          
Fonterra share purchases

20 Related Parties

Parent and ultimate controlling party

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel compensation comprised
Short-term employee benefits 300                  206               
Post-employment benefits -                       -                    
Termination benefits -                       -                    

300                  206               

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Transaction

Transaction
Value
2017
$000

Balance 
Outstanding

2017
$000

Transaction
Value
2016
$000

Balance 
Outstanding

2016
$000

David Belcher and John Brabazon 255                   5                    322                  -                    

Richard Townshend Consulting services provided 20                     -                     5                      -                    
Underwrite fees -                        -                     117                  -                    

E Rattray, R G Townshend, I Tulloch Share based payment amortised 23                     -                     23                    -                    

Promoter's fees

Brokerage

Administration fees

Underwrite fees

Share based payments

Shares held and share dealings by directors

Shares owned by directors or parties associated with Directors: 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

D B Belcher                   50                  50                    -                      -               775,222          717,439                      -                     -   

J A Brabazon                    -                     -                      -                      -               419,969          381,447                      -                     -   

E Rattray (Independent)                    -                     -                      -                      -                         -                      -              136,411         136,411 

R G Townshend (Independent)                    -                     -                      -                      -                         -                      -              136,411         136,411 

I Tulloch (Independent)          500,000         500,000          100,000          100,000                       -                      -              136,411         136,411 

A Moody (Independent)                    -                     -                      -                      -                         -                      -                        -                     -   
         500,050         500,050          100,000          100,000          1,195,191       1,098,886            409,233         409,233 

Shares purchased by or issued to directors or parties associated with Directors during the year:
D B Belcher                    -                     -                      -                      -                 57,783            58,919                      -                     -   

J A Brabazon                    -                     -                      -                      -                 38,522            42,211                      -                     -   

E Rattray (Independent)                    -                     -                      -                      -                         -                      -                        -             32,590 

R G Townshend (Independent)                    -                     -                      -                      -                         -                      -                        -             32,590 

I Tulloch (Independent)                    -                     -                      -                      -                         -                      -                        -             32,590 

A Moody (Independent)                    -                     -                      -                      -                         -                      -                        -                     -   
                   -                     -                      -                      -                 96,305          101,130                      -             97,770 

The Group has approval from the OIO to own land in Otapiri subject to a requirement to invest $4.3m in various agreed improvements.  At 31 May 2017 $1.3m investment remains to be completed.  Fund
to enable this work have been placed into separate term deposits until required per note 9.

Key Management Personnel / Director / 
Shareholder

An underwrite fee equivalent to 2% of the renounceable cash issue approved by the Directors on 12 May 2015 was payable to EGI-NZ Dairy LLC in the 2016 year.

Various disclosures of interests were made by directors during the year as set out in the Statutory Disclosures section of this report.

A number of Directors, senior executives or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of these 
entities. Some of these entities transacted with the Group during the reporting period. The terms and conditions of these transactions with key management personnel and their related parties were no more 
favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm's length basis.

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to Directors, senior executives and entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan under which services are received from independent farmer directors as consideration for options to purchase shares of the 
Company.  The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense over the term of the vesting period.  The amount to be expensed is determined by 
reference to the fair value of the options granted at the date of issuance.

The Group has an obligation to purchase Fonterra shares over a three year period beginning 1 December 2015 provided production forecasts are met.  Based on production forecasts it expects t
purchase 273,732 shares by 1 December 2017, and a further 1,424,108 shares by 1 December 2018.  Since balance date 150,000 shares have been purchased prior to these accounts being authorised.

2017
$000

2016
$000

The parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group is Dairy Farms NZ Limited. 

Farming director optionsSubordinated ordinary sharesOrdinary share optionsOrdinary shares

Directors fees incurred during the year are disclosed in Note 4 Corporate Farm Management and Administration.

The key management personnel comprise the Chief Executive Officer, Craig McBeth, and the Chief Financial Officer Fiona James (appointed 20 March 2017).

Promoter's fees are payable at 3.75% of the face value of ordinary shares issued.  Such fees are payable to Clavell Capital No. 2 Limited.

Brokerage fees are payable at 2% of the face value of ordinary shares issued.  Such fees are payable to Clavell Capital Limited.

An office administration fee equivalent to 0.125% per annum of the face value of ordinary share capital is payable to Clavell Capital Limited, until such time that the Group has its own administrative 
facilities.

Promoter's fees, Brokerage, Administration fees via Clavell Capital Ltd and 
Clavell Capital No. 2 Ltd

EGI-NZ Dairy LLC (51.7% shareholder)
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21 Events Subsequent to Balance Date 

Boulton lease

Dividend

22 Reporting Entity

23 Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

Basis of Measurement

- equity instruments and investments are measured at fair value
- land, land improvements and buildings are measured at fair value

Functional and Presentation Currency

Use of Estimates and Judgements

Note Judgement
15 Classification and valuation of financial assets and instruments

Note Assumption or estimation uncertainty
10 Estimation of average price receivable for milk production over the season
11 Valuation of land and buildings based on external valuations

24 Other Significant Accounting Policies 

(a)  Basis of Consolidation 
Subsidiaries

Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

(b)  Impairment 

Impairment of Equity Instruments

Non-financial Assets

On 25 August 2017 the Directors of Dairy Farms NZ Limited resolved to pay a final dividend of 1.0 cents per share on 22 November 2017 to shareholders on the Company's share register as at 5.00pm on 
25 August 2017.  This dividend will not be imputed hence will have with-holding tax deducted for NZ shareholders.  Shareholders will be given an option of reinvesting dividends at 98cps.  The total dividend 
amount will be $444,233.

The Group is primarily involved in dairy farm investment in the South Island of New Zealand, with farms being operated under the herd owning share-milker model.

Financial statements of Dairy Farms NZ Limited for the year ended 31 May 2017 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group").  Financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Reporting Act 2013.

Dairy Farms NZ Limited (the "Company") is a company domiciled in New Zealand, registered under the Companies Act 1993.  It intends to become listed on the New Zealand Exchange subject to market 
conditions. The Company is not an FMC Entity in terms of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013.

The accounting policies set out in these financial statements have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group 
entities.  The Group has early adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  as per note 15, and restated comparatives.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current period's presentation.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with NZ IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates and assumptions.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("GAAP").  They comply with the New Zealand equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("NZ IFRS") and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards as applicable to for-profit entities.  The financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

These statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 August 2017.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars ($), which is the Company's functional currency. All financial information presented in New Zealand dollars has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand.

On 20 June 2017 Dairy Farms NZ Limited was advised that it was successful in tendering for an extension of the Canterbury leased land (Boulton lease) with the owner, until 31 May 2027.  The lease is for 
255 hectares of land (the previous lease was for 183 hectares of land), and is subject to OIO approval.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit to which it relates, exceeds the recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset 
group that generates cash flows that are largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists then the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired. In the case of equity  instruments that are not held for trading, the Group 
may elect to present gains and losses through other comprehensive income.  If no election is made fair value gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

The carrying value of the Group's assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses directly reduce the carrying value of assets and are recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in accordance 
with another standard.

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases.
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24 Other Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)  Determination of Fair Values 

(d)

-
-
-

(e)

 - 

 - 

 - 

25 Capital and Reserves
No. of shares

2017
000

No. of shares
2016

000
2017
$000

2016
$000

Fully paid ordinary shares 44,423             40,923           44,423             40,923          
Fully paid sub-ordinated ordinary shares 1,495                1,375             1,143               1,048            
Promoter's fees -                        -                     (1,592)             (1,460)          
Brokerage -                        -                     (901)                (831)             
Underwrite fee -                        -                     (117)                (117)             
Cash issue costs -                        -                     (44)                   (44)                
Share capital on issue at 31 May 45,918             42,298           42,912             39,519          

Ordinary share options

Farming Director share options reserve

Revaluation reserve

Fair value reserve

Retained earnings

Dividends

Share Capital Accounting Policies
Ordinary Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity.

In determining the fair value using value in use, regard is given to external market evidence.

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the methods outlined in the respective notes for the assets and liabilities.  Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made is disclosed 
in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

Certain ordinary shareholders subscribed for options at the date of subscription for ordinary shares whereby one option was issued for every five ordinary shares, to be exercisable at a price of $1.00 each 
for a period ending not later than 12 months after the date of any allotment of shares under an initial public offering.  Share options issued total $5,950,000 (2016: 5,950,000).  No share options were 
converted to ordinary shares during the year (2016: Nil).  The options are considered to have no financial value requiring recognition.

These options vest after three years from closing and can then be exercised at any time for a further two years at an exercise price of $1.00 each.  The options lapse if not exercised by the fifth anniversary 
date from closing.  The Company has no legal or constructive obligation to re-purchase or settle the options in cash.  None of the outstanding options were exercisable at 31 May 2017 (2016: Nil).

The share option reserve records the amortised value of share options issued to indepent farming Directors.  The options are limited to no more than 1% of the issued ordinary share capital on closing (the 
day before the parent Company undertakes an initial public offering).  A maximum of one million options may be granted to be shared amongst the independent farming Directors.  During the year the 
Company issued Nil options (2016: 97,770) to independent farming Directors.

The fair value of these options at the date of issue was estimated at $91,873 (being $0.2245 per option), using the Black Scholes valuation model.  This is expensed over the vesting period.

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments elected at fair value through other comprehensive income until the investments are derecognised or 
impaired - specifically the Fonterra shares.

No dividends were paid by the Company for the year ended 31 May (2016: Nil).

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers has been issued.  This standard introduced a new revenue recognition model for contracts with customers.  The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  The Group plans to adopt IFRS 15 early as this is a requirement for early adoption of IFRS 16 Leases .  The standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the Group's financial results.

IFRS 16 Leases has been issued.  This standard eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases.  The standard uses a single lessee model which requires a 
lessee to recognise on the Statement of Financial Position assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months.  The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2019.  The Group is considering adopting IFRS 16 early in the 2018 financial statements.  The standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's financial results given it 
operates only one material lease in Canterbury.

Farm margin (a non-GAAP measure) represents earnings before net interest and finance costs, income tax, depreciation, amortisation, non-operating items, Corporate farm management and 
administration and other income.

Until a liquidity event, all sub-ordinated shares are non-voting, do not participate in dividends and rank behind ordinary shares in the event of a winding up.  The sub-ordinated shares automatically and 
irrevocably convert into Ordinary Shares after the earlier of an IPO or other liquidity event or two years after the commencement of payment of dividends by the Company.

A variety of minor improvements to standards have been made in order to clarify various treatments of specific transactions.  These are not expected to have an impact on the Group's financial 
results.

A number of new standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31 May 2017 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.  None of these 
standards are expected to have a significant impact on these financial statement except for:

 Disclosure of non-GAAP financial information 

EBITDA (a non-GAAP measure) represents earnings before net interest and finance costs, income tax, depreciation and amortisation.

 Standards and Interpretations That Have Been Issued or Amended But Are Not Yet Effective  

The revaluation reserve relates to revaluations of farm land, improvements and buildings where the revalued amount is above the historic cost of the assets.

Retained earnings equals accumulated undistributed profit.

All fully paid ordinary shares have no par value, carry equal voting rights and share equally in any profit on the winding up of the Group.  

Non-GAAP reporting measures have been presented in the Statement of Profit or Loss or referenced to in the notes to the financial statements.  The following non-GAAP measures are relevant to the 
understanding of the Group financial performance:

The Board and management consider the Farm Margin and Operating Profit measures to promote meaningful communication of useful financial information. These measures are also the required 
information for certain stakeholders and for internal management reporting and review. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or unit.

Operating profit (a non-GAAP measure) represents earnings before net interest and finance costs, income tax, depreciation, amortisation and non-operating items.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Dairy Farms NZ Limited

The consolidated financial statements comprise:

 the statement of financial position as at 31 May 2017;

 the statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

 the statement of other comprehensive income for the year then ended;

 the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

 the segment report for the year then ended;

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

 the additional financial disclosures including notes to the financial statements.

Our opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of Dairy Farms NZ Limited (the Company),
including its subsidiaries (the Group), present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Group as at 31 May 2017, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS)
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs
NZ) and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised)
Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (PES 1) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

Our firm carries out other services for the Group in the areas of tax compliance and capital raising fee
advisory. The provision of these other services has not impaired our independence as auditor of the
Group.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor’s report
The Directors are responsible for the annual report. Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other information included in the annual report and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion on the other information.



In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Directors are responsible, on behalf of the Company, for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS and IFRS, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements,
as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs NZ and ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the
External Reporting Board’s website at:
https://www.xrb.govt.nz/standards-for-assurance-practitioners/auditors-responsibilities/audit-report-7/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Who we report to
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state those matters which we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Nathan Wylie.

For and on behalf of:

Chartered Accountants Christchurch
25 August 2017



Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Statutory Disclosures

Interests Register

Hide/white text once complete
D B Belcher Executive Chairman Clavell Capital Limited D2

Chairman Rocpac International Limited D9
The Parenting Place D11

Director Clavell Business Sales Limited D1
Snooks Investments No. 1 Limited D3
Clavell Investments No. 1 Limited D4
Davann Nominees Limited D5
Rocpac Bonus Share Scheme Limited D8
Rocpac LS Limited D10

Director and Shareholder Snooks Investments No. 2 Limited D12
Snooks Investments No. 3 Limited D13
White Swan Nominees Limited D14

Shareholder / Trustee Clevedon Hills Estate Limited D7
Leighton Smith Productions Limited D6

Shareholder Clear Facilities Limited (ceased August 2017) D16
PQR Limited D17
Indusco, North Carolina D18

Trustee Snooks Trust D15

J A Brabazon Director Clavell Business Sales Limited J2
Clavell Capital Limited J3
Clavell Investments No. 1 Limited J4
Home Safety Limited
Raizor New Zealand Limited J9

Director and Shareholder Brabazon Petroleum Limited J1
Kaiwhata Forests Limited
PQR Limited J7

Shareholder Clear Facilities Limited (ceased August 2017) J12

E Rattray Chairman Maclon Limited E12
Waikato Innovation Park Limited E9

Chairman and Shareholder Binsar Farms Private Limited (India) E6
Director Animal Breeding Services (2007) Limited E1

Inframax Construction Limited E7
Quantec Limited E8
New Zealand Food Innovation (Waikato) Limited E10
Innovation Waikato Limited E11

Director and Shareholder Central Capital Investment (1) Limited E2
Dairy Link Limited E3
Honikiwi Pastoral Limited E4
Kiwi Pac Limited E5

Shareholder Pascaro Investments Limited E13
Canterbury Grasslands Limited E14

A Moody Director Mataura Valley Milk Limited A1
McNab Ventures Limited A2
Farmerco Limited A3
Mataura Valley Properties Limited A4
Valley Enterprises Limited A5
Ballast Holdings Limited A6

Director and Shareholder Moody & Moody Limited A8
Mersey Street Limited A9
M2 Trustees Limited A11
M3 Trustees Limited A12

Trustee Croydon Aviation Heritage Trust A10
ARM Trust A14

Board member Tennis Southland A13

The following particulars of notices were given by Directors of the Company pursuant to section 140(2) of the Companies Act 1993 for the year 
1 June 2016 to 31 May 2017.

36



Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Statutory Disclosures

Interests Register (continued)

R G Townshend Director Lirich Limited R2
Mamaku South Limited R3
Maxwell Farms Limited R4
Maxwell Farms (Developments) Limited R5
Maxwell Farms (Maroa) Limited R6
Maxwell Farms (Poihipi) Limited R7
Maxwell Farms (Te Kopia) Limited R8
Maxwell Farms (Tutukau) Limited R9
Milktest GP Limited R10
Professional Farm Leasing (PFL) Limited R11
Pascaro Investments Limited R15
Canterbury Grasslands Limited R16
Tihaka Farms Limited R18
Ginn Rd Dairies Limited R19
Allenby Ventures Limited R20
TLM Properties Limited R21

Director and Shareholder Dairy Direct Limited R1
White Pine Dairies Limited R12
TSL Trustee Company Limited R13
DDL (Townshend) Limited R14

I Tulloch Director Guelder Nominees Limited I10
Islington Park Limited I13
Lorax Logging Limited I15
McNab Ventures NZ Limited I16
Mataura Valley Milk Limited I17
Mataura Valley Properties Limited I20
Once-Ler Holdings Limited I23
Prime Range Livestock Limited I24
Tulloch McNab Transport Limited I33
Tulloch Road Limited I37
Waterloo Park Limited I41

Director and Shareholder Agritrack Limited I1
Ballast Holdings Limited I2
Broadacres Limited I3
Farm Fert Direct Limited I5
Fieseler Properties Limited I6
Global Vehicle Leasing 2009 Limited I7
Global Tribe Lipman Limited I8
Hatfield Works NZ Limited I11
Lake View Estate Cromwell Limited I14
Mobile Surgical Services Limited I21
Prime Range Meats Limited I25
Southern Esplanade Limited I26
Southern Skies Properties Limited I27
Stewart Transport Limited I28
Stoney Creek Station Limited I29
The Terraces Limited I30
Tulbury Heights Limited I31
Tulloch Farm Glendhu Limited I32
Tulloch Marina Limited I34
Tulloch Motorsport Limited I35
Tulloch Properties Christchurch Limited I36
Tulloch Transport Limited I38
Tulloch Wellington Limited I39
Valley Enterprises Limited I40
Farmerco Limited I42
AMIT Holdings Limited I43
Deep South Storage Limited I44

Shareholder CMT Industries Limited I4
Hulme Supercars Limited I45
Pharmazen Limited I46
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Directors' Remuneration

DIRECTOR TOTAL REMUNERATION $
D B Belcher 30,000             
J A Brabazon 20,000             
E Rattray 20,000             
R G Townshend 20,000             
I Tulloch / A Moody 20,000             

Committee Membership

Committee membership as at 31 May 2017 was as follows:

PRODUCTION COMMITTEE (PC) AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (ARMC)
E Rattray J A Brabazon (Chair)
R G Townshend E Rattray
I Tulloch I Tulloch / A Moody

Board and committee meeting attendance for FY17

DIRECTOR BOARD PC ARMC
Total number of meetings held 10                  12                  1                      
D B Belcher 10                  -                 -                   
J A Brabazon 9                    -                 1                      
E Rattray 10                  4                    1                      
R G Townshend 10                  12                  -                   
I Tulloch 1                    -                 -                   
A Moody 9                    -                 1                      

Directors' Shareholdings
Refer to note 20 for details of directors' share holdings.

Directors' Share Transactions
During the year to 31 May 2017, shares were issued to Directors of the Company as detailed in note 22.

Two Board committees assist in the execution of the Board's responsibilities: the Production Committee and the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee.  Each Board committee has a charter summarising the role, rights, responsibilities and membership requirements for that 
committee.

The following persons held office, or ceased to hold office, as a Director during the year to 31 May 2017 and received the following total 
remuneration (including the value of any benefits).  Figures are gross and exclude GST (if any).  In addition to these amounts, DFNZ meets 
costs incurred by directors that are incidental to the performance of their duties.  This includes paying the costs of directors' travel.  As these 
costs are incurred to enable directors to perform their duties, no value is attributable to them as benefits to directors for the purposes of this 
table.

The Board held ten meetings during FY17.  The table below shows director attendance at these Board meetings and committee member 
attendance at committee meetings.  Sub-committees of the Board also met regularly throughout the year to consider matters of special 
importance.
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Directors' Independence
The Board has determined that at 31 May 2017, as defined under the NZSX Listing Rules and based on information provided by directors:

-
-

Directors' Indemnity and Insurance

Use of Company Information by Directors

Employee Remuneration

-

-

The schedule excludes:
-
-

REMUNERATION RANGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
$250,000 - $260,000 1

The Board approves the Group's remuneration policy for it's employees.

Directors have unfettered access to the Group's records and information as required for the performance of their duties.  No requests for 
information made by individual directors were withheld from other directors.  No requests were received from Directors to use Group 
information that they obtained in their capacity as Directors that would not otherwise have been available to them.  The Board receives regular 
briefings on the Group's operations from senior management, and tour the Group's farms to keep abreast of developments.

Set out below are the numbers of employees of the Company and its subsidiaries who received remuneration and other benefits of $100,000 or 
more during the year, in their capacity as employees.  The schedule includes:

all monetary payments actually made during the year, including redundancies and the face value of any at-risk long-term incentives 
granted, where applicable;
the employer's contributions to superannuation funds, retiring entitlements, health insurance schemes and payments such as long 
service leave;

amounts paid post 31 May 2017 that related to services provided in the 2017 financial year;

The following Directors are not Independent Directors by virtue of their association with a substantial security holder and their 
association with Clavell Capital Limited, assisting with promotion of Dairy Farms NZ Limited: David Belcher, John Brabazon.

In accordance with section 162 of the Companies Act 1993 and the Constitution of the Company, the Company has insured Directors and 
Officers against liabilities to other parties that may arise from their positions as Directors and Officers of the Company and its Subsidiaries.  
This insurance does not cover liabilities arising from criminal actions and deliberate and reckless acts or omissions.

The following Directors are Independent Directors: E Rattray, R G Townshend, I Tulloch, A Moody

any benefits received by employees that do not have an attributable value.
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Subsidiary Company Directors

LEGAL COMPANY NAME DAIRY FARMS NZ DIRECTORS
Dairy Farms NZ No 2 Limited D B Belcher
Kowhai Dairies (Otapiri) Limited D B Belcher, J A Brabazon
Lowcliffe Dairies Limited D B Belcher, J A Brabazon
Matai Dairies (Otapiri) Limited D B Belcher, J A Brabazon
Miro Dairies (Otapiri) Limited D B Belcher, J A Brabazon
Rata Dairies (Otapiri) Limited D B Belcher, J A Brabazon
Totara Dairies (Otapiri) Limited D B Belcher, J A Brabazon

Shareholder Information

Substantial Security Holders

SHAREHOLDER NUMBER OF SHARES
EGI-NZ Dairy LLC 22,981,777     
Mana Trust - Trustees:N Abplanalp, M Abplanalp, Pertetual Trust Limited 3,333,333       

Analysis of Shareholdings
Distribution of ordinary shares and shareholdings at 31 May 2017 was:

SIZE OF HOLDING
1 - 99,999 2                    53,050           0.1%
100,000 - 499,999 32                  8,038,400       18.1%
500,000 - 999,999 8                    4,850,000       10.9%
1,000,000 - 4,999,999 4                    8,500,033       19.1%
5,000,000 and above 1                    22,981,777     51.7%
Total 47                  44,423,260     100.0%

Registered addresses of shareholders at 31 May 2017 were:

ADDRESS
United States 1                                2.1% 22,981,777     51.7%
New Zealand 40                              85.1% 17,441,483     39.3%
Australia 5                                10.6% 3,250,000       7.3%
Other 1                                2.1% 750,000         1.7%
Total 47                              100.0% 44,423,260     100.0%

The following persons held the office of Director of the respective subsidiaries (as defined in the Companies Act 1993) during the year on behalf 
of the Group.  Directors appointed (A) or who resigned (R) during the year are indicated.  Appointments do not receive Director fees or other 
benefits as a Director.  Group ownership is 100%.

If Dairy Farms NZ Limited were listed on the NZX, the following security holder would be required to give notice in accordance with the 
Securities Markets Act 1988 that it was a substantial security holder in the Company.

NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER OF 
SHARES % OF SHARES

As at 31 May 2017, Dairy Farms NZ Limited had 44,423,260 ordinary shares on issue.

Dairy Farms NZ Limited is a registered NZ Limited Company, with an extensive shareholding.  It is not quoted on the New Zealand Stock 
Market of NZX Limited.

NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

% OF
SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER OF 
SHARES % OF SHARES
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Registered Shareholders
The ordinary shareholders in Dairy Farms NZ Limited at 31 May 2017 were:

SHAREHOLDER NUMBER OF SHARES % OF SHARES HELD
1. EGI-NZ Dairy LLC 22,981,777     51.73%
2. Mana Trust - Trustees: N Abplanalp, M Abplanalp, Perpetual Trust Ltd 3,333,333       7.50%
3. Augustine Finance Limited 2,000,000       4.50%
4. The Siddle Family Trust - Woolwich Investments Pty Limited 2,000,000       4.50%
5. G&D Brown Trust - Trustees G & D Brown 1,166,700       2.63%
6. Andark Business Limited 750,000         1.69%
7. A P Willis 750,000         1.69%
8. J Dutton & M Fong 750,000         1.69%
9. Alliance Equities Limited 600,000         1.35%
10. Compass Foundation (Australia) Limited 500,000         1.13%
11. Brent Trust - Trustees: G Paull & O Ennor 500,000         1.13%
12. I Tulloch 500,000         1.13%
13. Mikima Investments Limited 500,000         1.13%
14. Luberon Investments Limited 400,000         0.90%
15. T & D Anselmi Family Trust - Trustees: A Anselmi & R Alleman 325,000         0.73%
16. G R Faber Trust - Trustees: B Coyte, G Faber, R Faber 291,700         0.66%
17. Jan Taylor Family Trust - Trustees: L Taylor & N Smith 291,700         0.66%
18. Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited - Snijders Family Trust 250,000         0.56%
19. Reubencar Holdings Limited 250,000         0.56%
20. P Van Dorp No. 3 Family Trust - Trustees: P Van Dorp, C Challinor 250,000         0.56%
21. Fancourt Trust - Trustees: G Miller, R Miller & A Calvert 250,000         0.56%
22. Axon Holdings Limited 250,000         0.56%
23. FM Wolf Pty Limited 250,000         0.56%
24. B Johnson 250,000         0.56%
25. James Bremner Trust Nominees Limited 250,000         0.56%
26. The Wallace Family Trust - Trustees: G Wallace, H Wallace, T Wallace 250,000         0.56%
27. O Waddle 250,000         0.56%
28. T&A Wallace Family Trust - Trustees: A Wallace, G Wallace, T Wallace 250,000         0.56%
29. Falcon Advances Limited 250,000         0.56%
30. SIL Long Term Holdings Limited 250,000         0.56%
31. Hayphil Investments Limited 250,000         0.56%
32. CAJ Holdings Limited 250,000         0.56%
33. Bridgewater Trust - Trustees: B Shaw, D Spicer, M Spicer 250,000         0.56%
34. Madison Star Investments Limited 250,000         0.56%
35. GD & JE Brown Trust - Trustees: B McNiece, G Brown, J Brown 250,000         0.56%
36. Fawnloch Trust - Trustees: A Fisher, P Fisher, S Tweedy 250,000         0.56%
37. I & R Devereux 250,000         0.56%
38. Tony Heron Trust - Trustees: M Hoogwerf & T Heron 250,000         0.56%
39. D Hayward 250,000         0.56%
40. P Boardman 250,000         0.56%
41. Corkdale Family Trust - Trustees: F & R Riordan 250,000         0.56%
42. Woods Property Investments Limited 250,000         0.56%
43. J & R Veitch 200,000         0.45%
44. MDF Dairy Limited Partnership 155,000         0.35%
45. J Billington 125,000         0.28%
46. MDF No. 1 Limited 53,000           0.12%
47. Snooks Trust - Trustees: B Keene, C Belcher, D Belcher 50                  0.00%

41



Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Shareholder Information

Holders of other shares and options
Holders of subordinated shares and options in Dairy Farms NZ Limited at 31 May 2017 were:

SUBORDINATED SHARES # of Options
Brabazon Petroleum Limited 419,969     -                 -                   
Snooks Investments No. 1 Limited 417,775     -                 -                   
Mansill Investments Limited 275,821     -                 -                   
Davann Nominees Limited 207,783     -                 -                   
Chemma Equity Investments Limited 149,664     -                 -                   
O Mansill 24,076       -                 -                   
EGI-NZ Dairy LLC -            3,600,000       -                   
Mana Trust - Trustees: N Abplanalp, M Abplanalp, Perpetual Trust Ltd -            666,667         -                   
Andark Business Limited -            150,000         -                   
Mikima Investments Limited -            150,000         -                   
Alliance Equities Limited -            120,000         -                   
Augustine Finance Limited -            118,733         -                   
Compass Foundation (Australia) Limited -            100,000         -                   
Brent Trust - Trustees: G Paull & O Ennor -            100,000         -                   
I Tulloch -            100,000         136,411           
Luberon Investments Limited -            80,000           -                   
J Dutton & M Fong -            50,000           -                   
T & D Anselmi Family Trust - Trustees: A Anselmi & R Alleman -            50,000           -                   
G R Faber Trust - Trustees: B Coyte, G Faber, R Faber -            50,000           -                   
Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited - Snijders Family Trust -            50,000           -                   
Reubencar Holdings Limited -            50,000           -                   
P Van Dorp No. 3 Family Trust - Trustees: P Van Dorp, C Challinor -            50,000           -                   
Fancourt Trust - Trustees: G Miller, R Miller & A Calvert -            50,000           -                   
Axon Holdings Limited -            50,000           -                   
FM Wolf Pty Limited -            50,000           -                   
B Johnson -            50,000           -                   
James Bremner Trust Nominees Limited -            50,000           -                   
Falcon Advances Limited -            50,000           -                   
SIL Long Term Holdings Limited -            50,000           -                   
J & R Veitch -            50,000           -                   
MDF Dairy Limited Partnership -            31,000           -                   
J Billington -            25,000           -                   
MDF No. 1 Limited -            8,600             -                   
E Rattray -            -                 136,411           
R G Townshend -            -                 136,411           

# of Farmer
Director Options

# of Subordinated
Shares
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Company number: 4801399
NZBN: 9429040979496

DIRECTORS
D B Belcher
Chairman

J A Brabazon

E Rattray

R G Townshend

I Tulloch

A Moody
Alternate for I Tulloch

EXECUTIVE
C A McBeth
Chief Executive Officer

F K James
Chief Financial Officer (20 March 2017)

REGISTERED OFFICE
c/- Clavell Capital Limited
Level 4, 139 Quay Street, Princes Wharf, Auckland, 1010
PO Box 1917, Auckland, 1140

SOUTH ISLAND OFFICE
Dairy Farms NZ Limited
Innovation Park, 185 Kirk Road, Templeton, 7678
PO Box 23018, Templeton, Christchurch, 8445

BANKERS
ASB Bank Limited
12 Jellicoe Street, Auckland, 1010
PO Box 35, Auckland, 1140

SOLICITORS
Bell Gully, Auckland
Vero Centre, 48 Shortland Street, Auckland, 1010
PO Box 4199, Auckland 1140, DX CP20509

Russell McVeagh, Auckland
Vero Centre, 48 Shortland Street, Auckland, 1010
PO Box 8, Auckland 1140, DX CX10085

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers New Zealand
60 Cashel Street, Christchurch Central, 8013
PO Box 13 244, Christchurch, 8141

SHARE REGISTER
For enquiries about share transactions or changes of address please contact:
c/- Clavell Capital Limited
PO Box 1917, Auckland, 1140
Telephone +64 9 309 1553
Email info@clavellcapital.com
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